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Introduction



BEFORE WASHINGTON, BEFORE JEFFERSON, BEFORE FRANKLIN OR John Adams, there was Lee—Richard Henry Lee.


First of the Founding Fathers to call for independence, first to call for union, and first to call for a bill of rights, Richard Henry Lee was as much a Father of Our Country as George Washington. For it was Lee who masterminded the political and diplomatic victories that ensured Washington’s military victory in the Revolutionary War. And after the nation took shape it was Lee—not James Madison—who conceived of the Bill of Rights our nation enjoys today.


Richard Henry Lee was a scion of one of Virginia’s—indeed, one of North America’s—wealthiest and most powerful families, a fabled dynasty akin to Europe’s Medici, Habsburgs, or Rothschilds. He and his blood—and relatives by marriage—ruled over hundreds of thousands of acres across Virginia, western Maryland, Pennsylvania, and present-day Ohio and Indiana; their fleet sailed the world carrying American tobacco to the farthest corners of the earth. At the peak of their wealth and power the Lees controlled Virginia’s government and economy and helped develop Virginia into North America’s largest, richest, and most populated British colony.


Needing nothing to fill his needs as a young adult, Richard Henry Lee absorbed a library of learning before entering public service—an avocation that became a lifelong commitment and turned him against his own class as he encountered government corruption and widespread deprivation of individual rights. His conflicts with corrupt officials and petty tyrants metamorphosed into demands for individual liberties, human rights, and, eventually, American independence from Britain. As a fledgling member of Virginia’s legislature, he shocked the South by declaring blacks “entitled to liberty and freedom by the great law of nature” and planting the first seeds of emancipation in Virginia.


Twelve years before Britain’s colonies declared independence, Lee was the first to threaten King George III with rebellion if he did not annul a new stamp tax. Later Lee worked with Boston’s firebrand activist Samuel Adams to organize committees of correspondence in each colony, uniting the independence movement and bringing colony leaders to Philadelphia for North America’s First Continental Congress.


In 1775 Richard Henry Lee stood with Patrick Henry demanding war with Britain, if necessary, to obtain redress of American grievances against Parliament’s governing ministry. A year later he invited his own execution on the gallows with a treasonous resolve before Congress “that these United Colonies are, and of right ought to be, free and independent States.”


Three weeks later, on July 2, Congress approved Lee’s resolution declaring independence from Britain. Newspapers sent the news streaming across the nation and the world, with banner headlines proclaiming America and her people free of British rule and hailing Richard Henry Lee as Father of American Independence.


A year later, when British troops seized the capital at Philadelphia, Lee rallied a band of twenty congressmen, led them westward to Lancaster, then York, Pennsylvania, and while Washington held the remnants of his army together at Valley Forge, Lee kept the remnants of Congress together and reestablished the fledgling American government. Assuming leadership as de facto chief executive, Richard Henry Lee ensured the new government’s survival, supervising military affairs, foreign affairs, and financial affairs and ensuring the needs of Washington’s army. John Adams called Lee the Cicero of the Revolution, in contrast to George Washington, the unquestioned Cincinnatus.


Three of Lee’s brothers, bound by mutual love of country—and of their older brother—reinforced Richard Henry’s every effort. Francis Lightfoot Lee stood by Richard Henry as a firm ally in Congress, while Arthur Lee and William Lee served as surrogates in Europe, to provide intelligence, find financial aid, and work out secret deals to smuggle French arms, ammunition, and materiel to Washington’s army. The surreptitious shipments would supply Washington with 80 percent of his army’s needs for more than a year until French king Louis XVI recognized American independence and sent his army and navy to America to seal American victory and independence from Britain.


John Adams hailed the Lees as a “band of brothers, intrepid and unchangeable, who, like the Greeks at Thermopylae, stood in the gap, in the defense of their country, from the first glimmering of the Revolution in the horizon, through all its rising light, to its perfect day.”1


In 1779 Richard Henry Lee—forty-seven years old, with four fingers blown away by a flintlock explosion—displayed his heroism in battle, leading his home-county militia in a charge against British troops landing along the Potomac River near Lee’s home.


After the Revolution Lee joined Patrick Henry in opposing ratification of the Constitution, fearing that, without a bill of rights, it would concentrate the nation’s power and wealth in the hands of oligarchs. Although they lost their struggle, Lee continued the fight, winning election to the US Senate in the First Congress, where he led efforts to add a Bill of Rights to the Constitution.


But after two years in the Senate, including service as president pro tempore, the struggle wore him down. Spent and ailing, he retired to his Virginia home and died two years later, surrounded by his wife and nine children. The words on his gravestone expressed their loss and that of the nation: “We cannot do without you.”















CHAPTER 1







[image: ]








Evolution of a Dynasty


FOR ALMOST ALL OF HIS LIFE THOMAS LEE HAD BELIEVED—AND perpetuated—the family myth that the Lees had landed among the Norman knights at Hastings in 1066. Although his boys were fourth-generation Virginians, the Lee family’s evident importance in English history made it imperative that he send them “home” to England for a proper education—much as his own father had sent him there, and as his father’s father had sent his sons to English schools.


“Not one of the pupils has died here,” headmaster Joseph Randall assured Thomas Lee at England’s Wakefield School in 1744, when Lee was touring England in search of appropriate boarding schools for his younger sons. “This village,” Randall added, “is happily retired from those Temptations which Youth are exposed to in Towns… out of the reach… of vice… and corruptions of the age.”1


As important as the safety of its boys, Randall pointed out, the curriculum at Wakefield was identical to but less costly than its exalted competitor, Eton College, which Thomas Lee himself had attended as a boy. Although Henry VI had founded Eton in 1440 to educate poor boys without charge, it expected wealthy eighteenth-century parents to pay enormous sums—indeed, exorbitant sums—to educate, house, and feed its students.


That was to be expected for English noblemen grooming their oldest sons to rule the British Empire, but it seemed inappropriate for their younger boys, bound for only the military or the church—with little or no inheritance to take with them. Like members of England’s ruling class, Virginia’s Thomas Lee had routinely enrolled his oldest son and primary heir, Philip Ludwell Lee, in Eton several years earlier, but his next in line, Richard Henry Lee and his younger brother Thomas, would have to make do with a somewhat less costly education.


Under the universal rule of primo geniture, Thomas Lee would bequeath the vast Lee empire in America to his oldest son, leaving only scattered tracts in the wilderness to Richard Henry Lee and his four other younger sons. With the primary estate that Philip Ludwell Lee would inherit came a seat on Virginia’s ruling council of state, with powers second only to the royal governor. Richard Henry Lee and the younger boys would not share such powers and would need no academic or social credentials from Eton College to work their small plantations in the Virginia wilderness.


But the Lees, in fact, owned no armor and, although Thomas Lee would never admit it even to himself, neither he nor his forebears were high born. Their family name had metamorphosed over generations from de Lega—old French for “of the law” (perhaps a sheriff or notary by trade)—then de Le’, Leigh, and finally Lee. Subsequent generations were largely tradesmen: some peddled clothes, but one was a wine merchant who accumulated small royal land grants in America—all but worthless at the time—as token payments by the crown for his grapes.


Those grants, however, thrust the Lees into the landed gentry, and when Virginia settlers learned to grow tobacco and feed the sudden British craze for the weed, the value of Lee holdings soared—warranting a coat of arms. Described in heraldic terms as “fesse chequy and ten billets,”* it carried the title “Gentleman”—a rank above “Goodman,” or landowner who obtained his holdings from a king’s vassal rather than the king himself.
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1. The Lee family coat of arms shows a “fesse chequy,” or wide checkered bar across the center of the shield, with ten “billets,” or vertical rectangles, above and below the central bar.








In 1640 Richard Henry Lee’s great-grandfather Richard took advantage of his rank by sailing across what Britons called “The Virginia Sea”* to claim his land grants and become the first Richard Lee in the New World.
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2. The first Richard Lee in America sailed from Britain in 1640 with “headrights” to 1,000 acres in Virginia—a property he expanded to more than 15,000 acres before he died.








Before sailing, he bought enough slaves and indentured servants to acquire “headrights” to a thousand acres in York County, Virginia. Conceived earlier in the seventeenth century to ease labor shortages on Virginia’s tobacco fields, a landowner could obtain rights to an additional fifty acres from the Virginia Company of London for each person—each “head”—he brought to America to work the land. British taste for tobacco seemed limitless at the time, and headrights let Virginia plantation owners expand their properties and tobacco production by buying slaves or paying the passage of indentured white workers to come to America in exchange for a fixed number of years (usually five) of involuntary servitude on the buyer’s plantation. The impending outbreak of an English civil war made it a good time to leave.


With Virginia’s population barely 10,000 in the mid-seventeenth century, the 1,000 acres owned by Richard Henry Lee’s great-grandfather thrust him among Virginia’s largest property owners—and onto the governor’s Council of State, an oligarchy of property owners who ruled the colony. By 1653 Richard Lee had acquired enough headrights to claim 15,000 acres of tobacco land along the Virginia coast—including the site of present-day Mount Vernon.


Far from the Garden of Eden they had envisioned when they left England, the first Richard Lee and his family in America lived in an ugly collection of primitive log cabins north of the York River. Poisonous serpents outnumbered apple trees, and swarms of mosquitoes and other injurious insects harassed settlers day and night. Although the Lees lived within riding distance of the colonial capital at Jamestown, Powhatan Indians called the land theirs and burned Lee’s settlement to the ground three times in the years after his arrival, slaughtering dozens of slaves and servants. Lee himself survived each assault and kept rebuilding and expanding his empire.
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3. Jamestown’s population in 1640 had spilled beyond its original triangle of protective walls, but Indian raids remained common.








Before the first Richard Lee died in 1664 (of natural causes), he sired ten children, including a second Richard Lee, who sailed to England to attend Eton as his father had done, then returned to America to rule over and expand the Lee family holdings. By then they included about seven dozen slaves, herds of cattle and sheep, parts of two shipping companies, and an interest in a tobacco trading company in London. In modern terms the Lee plantation was an “integrated” enterprise that combined growing, harvesting, shipping, and trading tobacco, then the most lucrative crop in the British Empire. Like his father, the second Richard Lee in America assumed political offices, privileges, and powers that came with his lands.


Although the second Richard Lee was born in Virginia, he—like other colonial “aristocrats”—called England “home” and remained English, heart and soul, a bulwark of the royal governor’s ruling oligarchy. When, therefore, a group of shabby, small-property owners from the frontier demanded government protection against Indian raids, the governor—with the support of Lee and other powerful plantation owners—refused. None was willing to disrupt the profitable trade they had established with friendly Indians who gladly exchanged skins and furs for rum.


Led by planter Nathaniel Bacon, the frontiersmen took matters into their own hands and formed a militia that marched to the Roanoke River and slaughtered Susquehannock Indians, whom they deemed responsible for the attacks. Declared a traitor by Governor Sir William Berkeley, Bacon responded by leading his men into Jamestown, setting the town ablaze, burning the governor’s home to the ground, and taking Richard Lee prisoner.
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4. The ruins of Jamestown after planter Nathaniel Bacon retaliated against the royal governor for failing to protect nearby plantations against Indian raids. Bacon died shortly thereafter, and the governor hanged twenty-three of his followers.








Bacon died a month later, but Berkeley ordered men from a British naval squadron to crush the rebellion, freeing Richard Lee, hanging twenty-three insurgents, and seizing their properties. After British king Charles II learned of the rebellion, he recalled Berkeley to England, allegedly saying, “As I live, the old fool has put to death more people in that naked country than I did here for the murder of my father.”2 With that, the king calmed Virginia tempers with tax reductions and stepped up defenses against Indian incursions.


When the second Richard Lee died, his oldest son—the third Richard Lee—was still living in England, with no inclination to leave for the Virginia wilds. He never got the chance, dying a year later at thirty-nine without male heirs and leaving the Lee empire in America to his brother Thomas Lee, Richard Henry Lee’s father.
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5. Thomas Lee negotiated the first peace treaty with hostile Indian nations at the historic Lancaster Conference, earning a royal land grant of 500,000 acres in the Ohio Territory.








Thomas married the wealthy American heiress Hannah Ludwell, whose dowry helped expand Lee-family holdings in Virginia to more than 50,000 acres. On January 29, 1729, however, raiders broke into their home as the Lees slept, stole their silver and other valuables, then set fire to the house, barns, and outbuildings. One servant died in the blaze, but Thomas and Hannah swept up their young son, Philip Ludwell, and daughter, Hannah, and leaped out a second-floor window to the ground. Pregnant with her third child, Hannah survived the fall but miscarried. The raiders escaped and were never found or identified.


The Lees moved north to higher ground on Virginia’s Northern Neck Peninsula and built a fortress-like home on the cliffs overlooking the Potomac River. Named Stratford Hall—the name of the first Richard Lee’s home in Britain—the new Lee manor and its austere exterior housed a palatial interior, where Hannah gave birth to six more Lees: Thomas, Richard Henry, Francis Lightfoot, Alice, William, and Arthur.


All but adjacent to Stratford Hall, Thomas Lee built a separate two-story brick schoolhouse—in effect, a small boarding school—and hired a well-educated Scottish clergymen to teach his boys reading, writing, literature, science, Latin, proper behavior, morality, religion, Bible, and catechism. Like other plantation owners, Thomas Lee had little time for “fathering” his boys. Supervision of his agricultural enterprise kept him busy most of the year, and obligations in the colonial legislature—the House of Burgesses—and the executive Council of State in Williamsburg occupied the rest of his time.


Unlike New England, where most villages boasted a church with a minister who taught local children on weekdays, almost nothing but plantations blanketed the South; the road out of one plantation led only to the road into the next. Slaves usually raised the master’s boys until they were five, when a tutor took charge of their upbringing and education until they were twelve and old enough to sail to England and attend boarding schools such as Eton or Wakefield.*
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6. Stratford Hall, the magnificent home that Thomas Lee built on Virginia’s Northern Neck, housed a luxurious interior behind an austere, fortress-like exterior aimed at discouraging attacks by thieves and Indian raiders.








Richard Henry Lee and his brothers slept in a dormitory on the second floor of the Stratford Hall schoolhouse, adjacent to the tutor’s private quarters. More than just an instructor, their tutor served as a surrogate parent, ministering to the boys on Sundays, escorting them to social and sporting events, and teaching them a variety of social and recreational skills ranging from dancing to horsemanship. The tutor roused the boys at seven each morning for an hour of lessons before breakfast and morning chores. Lessons resumed at nine and, except for an hour for dinner, continued until five. In the hour of free play that followed, Richard Henry Lee—far more than his older brother Philip—embraced a leadership role that earned him the lifelong devotion of three of his younger brothers, Francis Lightfoot, William, and Arthur.


After the personal and financial disaster Thomas Lee had suffered with the loss of his first home, he decided to strengthen Virginia against Indian raids. All but seizing command of Virginia’s government from a timid royal governor, Lee organized a peace conference with leaders of the Six Nation (Indian) Confederacy in Lancaster, Pennsylvania, in early summer 1744. Plying them with wampum, whiskey, rum, and rhetoric, Lee convinced Indian leaders to cede much of western Maryland, Pennsylvania, and the lands east of the Blue Ridge Mountains to the British. Language differences, however, left Thomas Lee convinced he had restored British control over territory Britain had claimed in 1609 that “extended to the South Sea” (Pacific Ocean)—or so he wrote to the king.


The king expressed his gratitude by granting Thomas Lee 500,000 acres in the Ohio Valley, with which Lee and a group of friends, including George Washington and his brothers, formed the Ohio Land Company, with plans to sell land to would-be settlers in the ensuing decades.


By then Thomas Lee had expanded his property adjacent to Stratford Hall from its original 1,500 acres to about 4,000 acres, with vineyards, orchards, tobacco fields, and fields of grain stretching to the horizon. And at its core stood the magnificent manor, Stratford Hall, atop a bluff overlooking the Potomac River, on Virginia’s Northern Neck, the northernmost of three giant peninsulas that reached eastward into Chesapeake Bay (see map, here). Below, on river’s edge beneath Stratford Hall, stood a mill, a warehouse, a landing for ocean-going transports, a ship’s store, and a fully equipped shipyard to build, repair, and service ships. Scattered about the property was housing for as many as one hundred slaves, servants, and workers, including weavers, carpenters, coopers, blacksmiths, shipwrights, millers, herdsmen, weavers, tailors, shoemakers, and other craftsmen. In effect, Thomas Lee—Richard Henry Lee’s father—had transformed a corner of Virginia into a thriving, self-sufficient, English waterfront community, which he intended bequeathing to his oldest son, Philip Ludwell Lee. With Philip already studying law in London, Thomas Lee went to England to see about educating his other sons and sought to enroll Richard Henry Lee in Wakefield School.


“A young nobleman or gentleman may have a room to himself and eat at a private table with the [Randall] family,” Wakefield headmaster Randall assured Thomas Lee. An additional £35 a year (just under $5,000 in current dollars) would assure him “the best masters” to teach him the basic curriculum, along with “natural philosophy [physics], fortification and gunnery, logic, dancing, fencing, music, and drawing.


“It must be observed,” Randall added, “that washing is not included in the board. The usual price is fourteen shillings (about $135 today) a year… for which they have three shirts a week. Each pupil finds his own sheets alternately with his bedfellow.”3


Randall’s presentation evidently convinced Thomas Lee, who enrolled thirteen-year-old Richard Henry. The boy was still there four years later in 1750 when both his parents died—his mother, Hannah, in January, his father, Thomas, in November. As expected, Thomas Lee left the bulk of his wealth to his oldest son, Philip Ludwell Lee, twenty-three by then and still at the Inner Temple in London studying law. As primary heir and executor of his father’s estate, he immediately returned to Virginia.


Richard Henry Lee was approaching nineteen and in his last year at Wakefield. With no responsibilities in the settlement of his father’s estate and far too late to attend the burial, he chose to finish his studies at Wakefield, then set off to see the Western world. He left for the continent after graduating and spent the next several years touring Europe—including France and especially Paris, which had evolved into a center of arts and letters. “Noblemen, judges, and men of finance perfected the art of conversation with philosophers, artists, and men of letters” in the many salons. The rarity of a visit by so polished and cultured an American as Richard Henry Lee made him a popular figure and left him with little inclination to return to the isolated Virginia hilltop of his childhood.4


Besides the family fortune, however, his older brother Philip Ludwell Lee had inherited the task of caring for his six minor siblings and managing their inheritances until they each reached the age of majority. Richard Henry had no choice but return to claim his share of the family wealth.


Thomas Lee had left his minor children with handsome, if not extravagant, assets in either land or money. He bequeathed his sons Thomas, Richard Henry, and Francis Lightfoot several hundred acres each—in Stafford County, Prince William County, and Loudon County, respectively. Each property came with thirty to fifty slaves along with more than adequate sums of money to build substantial homes. He left his two youngest boys, William, eleven, and Arthur, ten, £1,300 pounds ($175,000) each—enough to live on and even build modest homes when they reached their majority. In the meantime their oldest brother, Philip, was to raise the two “religiously and virtuously and, if necessary, bind them to any profession or trade, so that they may earn their living honestly.”5


As sole executor of the estate, Philip Ludwell Lee controlled the bequests of the four minor boys along with bequests of £1,000 each ($136,500 in current dollars) that Thomas left his two daughters as dowries to ensure marriages to husbands of standing. The older daughter, Hannah Lee, was already twenty-one when her father died and married a prosperous planter. His other daughter, Alice, fourteen, would later marry Philadelphia’s renowned physician Dr. William Shippen, the future surgeon general of George Washington’s Continental Army.


Twenty-year-old Richard Henry Lee sailed home to Virginia in 1752. More interested in scholarship than commercial trade or agriculture, he returned to his boyhood home at Stratford Hall, where his brother Philip—still unmarried—welcomed his brother’s companionship, giving him his own apartment along with access to the more than 300 books in the Stratford Hall library. While Philip focused on running the family enterprise, Richard Henry immersed himself in history, political philosophy, political science, and law, absorbing the works of John Locke, Sir William Blackstone, and the Baron de Montesquieu.


“From the works of the immortal Locke,” his grandson Richard Henry Lee II recalled, “he acquired an ardent fondness for the principles of free government; and from those of Cudworth, Hooker, Grotius, and other writers… he drew maxims of civil and political morality.




He read… the histories of the patriotic and republican ages of Greece and Rome, which animated his love of his country and of liberty.… His taste was refined by… Homer, Virgil, Milton, and Shakespeare.… The best histories of every age were within his reach, and a vast fund of political wisdom derived from them… when, in future life, he called for its use in the service of his country.6





Lee did not, however, devote himself exclusively to study. A consummate southern dilettante by then, “he mingled cheerfully in society,” according to one of his grandsons. He attended all the festivities at great homes of other planters nearby, including Belvoir,* the stately mansion of Lord Fairfax and his family up the Potomac on the Northern Neck not far from Mount Vernon. Recipient of one of the largest royal grants in American history, Lord Fairfax could claim ownership of more than 1 million acres stretching over the entire Northern Neck in eastern Virginia, westward to the base of the Shenandoah Mountains. Lee was “affable and polite,” his grandson noted, and “became very popular upon entering into the active scenes of life.”7


It was at Belvoir that Richard Henry Lee met the young George Washington, at twenty-two, a year older than Richard Henry. Washington had just assumed control of what had been his older brother’s plantation at Mount Vernon, upriver from Stratford Hall. In contrast to Richard Henry Lee, young Washington was a professional surveyor, an experienced wilderness explorer who loved gardening and farm work, and an officer in the Virginia militia. Ostensible opposites, Lee and Washington formed an instant friendship, with each—the scholar and the rugged outdoorsman—lacking yet admiring the other’s experiences.


In the spring of 1755 the first clouds of war darkened American skies when French troops from Canada invaded what Virginia had long claimed as its territory in western Pennsylvania and the Ohio River Valley. Virginia’s governor ordered Washington to lead 150 militiamen to demand surrender of Fort Duquesne, which the French had built on the site of present-day Pittsburgh. After a short skirmish in which the French humiliated Washington and his men, the Virginians staggered home to await the arrival of British general Edward Braddock with 1,400 regular British troops.
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Map 1. Virginia’s Northern Neck. The peninsula between the Potomac (spelled Patowmack on this antique map) and Rappahannock Rivers was one of several jutting out from mainland Virginia into Chesapeake Bay. Richard Henry Lee’s boyhood home, Stratford Hall, and Chantilly, the home he built for his family, stood in Westmoreland County on the north shore opposite Blackstone’s Island. George Washington’s Mount Vernon stands overlooking the Potomac upriver at the first bend beneath Alexandria, in Fairfax County.








When Braddock’s ships sailed up the Potomac River past Stratford Hall, Richard Henry Lee decided to emulate his friend Washington and take up arms. He galloped off with other volunteers to join Braddock in Alexandria—only to have Braddock reject the young Virginians as ill trained and ill equipped. In words Richard Henry Lee described as “coarse and rude,” he ordered them to return to their homes.8


Braddock was also ready to reject Washington and his 450-man troop until junior officers intervened, citing Washington’s experience in the backcountry and his understanding of Indians and Indian warfare.


Days later, however, as Braddock and his force reached Great Meadows near their destination, the general ignored—indeed, rejected—Washington’s warning about “the mode of attack which he would likely face against the Canadian French and their Indians.


“So prepossessed were they in favor of regularity and discipline,” Washington explained in disbelief, “and in such absolute contempt were these people [Indians] held, that the admonition was suggested in vain.”9


Confident the Indians would not dare attack his sparklingly attired troops, Braddock ordered his men to advance linear style toward Fort Duquesne. Suddenly crackling shots and blood-curdling war whoops engulfed the woods. A mob of half-naked French and Indians materialized among the trees, emitting a ceaseless staccato of shouts and shots. Dozens of British troops fell dead. Before survivors could turn and flee, a second wave of attackers succeeded the first, letting loose another blast of blood-curdling brays and bullets. In and out they sprang, left, right, front, rear, one after another emerging from the trees, firing, then disappearing. Confusion and terror gripped the British ranks. The slaughter lasted three hours: 977 of the 1,459 British troops and 66 of the 86 officers dropped to the ground dead or wounded, including General Braddock, who died from his wounds four days later. The French suffered 17 casualties, the Indians maybe 100.


As news of Braddock’s humiliation filtered back to Alexandria and, from there, to Stratford Hall, both elder Lee brothers, Richard Henry and Philip Ludwell, determined to reshape Virginia’s policies. As a landowner, Philip was eligible to run for election to the House of Burgesses and won a seat, joining George Washington’s brother Augustine and an imposing number of Lee cousins and their in-laws already sitting in the legislature. Owning no land in Westmoreland County, Richard Henry was ineligible to run, but brother Philip—now addressed as “Colonel Phil”—saw to his younger brother’s appointment as a county justice of the peace. Although Richard Henry would not influence colonial policy for the moment, it was a first step into Virginia’s political machinery until he settled on his own property and became eligible for election to the colonial legislature.


By the time George Washington and his crippled force emerged from the wilderness, rumors had listed him—and most of his troops—as casualties. Experienced as he was in wilderness warfare, however, he escaped unhurt and even added a touch of humor to his macabre adventure.




“As I have heard a circumstantial account of my death and dying speech,” he wrote to his brother Jack, “I take this early opportunity of contradicting the first and assuring you that I have not yet composed the latter. But by the all-powerful dispensation of Providence, I have been protected beyond all human probability and expectation, for I had four bullets through my coat and two horses shot under me yet escaped unhurt, although death was leveling my companions on every side of me.”10





Washington’s prowess as a horseman had allowed him to remount horses of dead officers during the battle and effect his own escape. On his return to Virginia, however, he raged as he reported details of “our shameful defeat” to the House of Burgesses in Williamsburg. Washington excoriated the British high command for having failed to train troops to adapt to unconventional, Indian-style warfare. He made it clear that a handful of individuals firing behind the cover of trees, shrubs, and rocks had a clear advantage in the wilderness over large columns of troops firing from upright positions in traditional linear-style warfare designed for the wide, open fields of Europe.
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7. Colonel George Washington owned the Mount Vernon plantation upriver from Stratford Hall and commanded a unit of the Virginia militia who suffered a humiliating defeat at the hands of the Indians and French in western Pennsylvania.








With that, the burgesses, led by a disproportionate number of supporters among the Lees, unanimously named Washington commander of the Virginia militia and voted to raise a 1,200-man force for him to command. “It is probable they will determine for 4,000,” Richard Henry Lee’s cousin Philip Ludwell told Washington. “Every one of my acquaintance profess a fondness for your having the militia [and] whilst I am serving so deserving a man [as you], I think with pleasure that I am serving my country as well.”11


With the French and Indians threatening to overrun the American West, Britain declared war on France on May 17, 1756, and ordered an expeditionary force far larger than Braddock’s to sail to North America to halt French incursions into territory Britain claimed as her own. Until it arrived, Washington, his militia, and the rest of the Virginia population could do nothing but wait and hope the French and Indians would not march eastward.


In the meantime plantation life proceeded as normally as possible, with three Lee brothers—Philip, Richard Henry, and Thomas, who had returned from England by then—engaged in the usual family quarrels but nonetheless wooing eligible young ladies at the neighboring plantation. Brother Philip had been first to make contact with the owner, Colonel James Steptoe. While courting Steptoe’s daughter Elizabeth Steptoe, he introduced his two younger brothers to his future wife’s half-sisters, Mary and Anne Aylette. Tom married Mary and immediately whisked his bride upriver to the property he had inherited in Stafford County, midway between Stratford Hall and Alexandria. Richard Henry married Anne Aylette but had no inclination to farm the acreage he had inherited in Prince William County, upcountry on the Northern Neck near Mount Vernon. Intent on staying put among the books and luxuries of his boyhood surroundings, he gladly accepted Colonel Phil’s invitation to remain in Stratford Hall with his bride, who became de facto mistress of the household and bore two of her children with Richard Henry there.* In addition to caring for infants Thomas and Ludwell, she and Richard Henry also took a hand in guiding the two youngest Lee boys, William and Arthur, both in their teens by then and still devoted to their older brother Richard Henry.


Colonel Phil had already discerned William’s talents in mathematics and planned to bring him into the family business to learn international trade and banking. The youngest boy, Arthur, seemed an impractical intellect, however, and Richard Henry convinced Colonel Phil to send him to Eton and, from there, to medical school.


As Colonel Phil himself drew closer to marrying, he and Richard Henry recognized the potential for conflict between two matrons living in and governing the same household. Phil agreed to lease Richard Henry 500 acres high on a nearby bluff overlooking the Potomac, where Richard Henry designed a home he called Chantilly, after the Château de Chantilly north of Paris that had entranced him when he visited in 1751.


Richard Henry Lee’s Chantilly was far less elaborate—but more practical—than the original, which had been built in 1560 for the French king’s constable. Although Lee’s home commanded a breathtaking view of the Potomac River, it was standard Virginia—a three-and-a-half-story, rectangular frame house, with front and rear doors placed in the center of the ground floor to let breezes flow through and cool the interior in summer. One Lee relative called the house commodious but not elegant. Its ground floor, clad in a veneer of brick, housed an entrance hall, parlor, library, and a twenty-by-twenty-four-foot dining room. The second floor, with its wooden clapboard exterior, held four bedrooms and a lookout room where Lee kept two telescopes to follow ships as they sailed on the river below, bound, as often as not, to the landing beneath Stratford Hall. The third floor, squeezed beneath a sloping roof, housed a large classroom, where a tutor would educate Richard Henry Lee’s children, just as one had educated him at Stratford Hall.


Formal gardens reminiscent of those he had seen at Chantilly in France enhanced the lawns around the house, and a “great walk” led to the spectacular panorama at the edge of the bluff. A cellar held three dozen bottles of port wine, five dozen bottles of Virginia wine, a dozen bottles of gin, and ample supplies of madeira, muscat, claret, and champagne. Outbuildings included a kitchen, dairy, blacksmith’s forge, stables, barn, laundry, slave quarters, and, of course, a “necessary”—or outhouse. A landscaped path wound its way down to the river’s edge, where a barge waited to take the Lees and their guests on river cruises.
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8. The magnificent Château de Chantilly, built in the sixteenth century north of Paris for the constable of France, entranced Richard Henry Lee when he visited it after graduating from Eton College. He would give the name to his own home in Virginia. (LPLT/Wikipedia Commons)








With no interest in farming or commerce, Richard Henry opted for a career in public service, in which Colonel Phil agreed he could best serve the Lee enterprise and its interests in international commerce and land development in the west. Envisioning a life of reading, travel, contact with interesting public figures, and the joys of raising a family, Richard Henry wrote to friends far and wide seeking an interesting, if not taxing, government sinecure, of which there were many.


“I know not any person to whom I can, with more propriety, apply for an application on my behalf, that I may be appointed to fill the next vacancy in his majesty’s council,” he wrote to General James Abercrombie, commander of British forces in America. “The desire I have to do my country service is my only motive for this solicitation.”12 On the same day he wrote to a former schoolmate from Wakefield School to “entreat the favor of you… to apply to your noble friend Lord Halifax.… If an ardent desire to serve my country… [is] considered in this application, you may safely declare yourself my friend.”13


He ended his efforts to obtain government appointments in 1757, however, when George Washington’s older brother Augustine retired from politics and urged Richard Henry to run for his seat in the House of Burgesses.


As Richard Henry sought election in Westmoreland County, his younger brother Francis Lightfoot Lee, who had settled on a farm in Loudon County, fifty miles northwest of Alexandria, also sought election to the House of Burgesses. Both brothers won, and, when the three Lee brothers—Colonel Phil, Richard Henry, and Francis Lightfoot Lee—strode into Virginia’s House of Burgesses, they joined eight in-laws and cousins to form the largest, most powerful voting bloc in the legislature, with more than 10 percent of the votes at most sessions. Their commercial dynasty had evolved into a political dynasty, and Richard Henry Lee, the dilettante scholar, suddenly found himself a powerful figure in Britain’s most important colony.


Nor would Richard Henry Lee’s younger brother Francis Lightfoot Lee—or Frank, as his brothers called him—long remain in the seclusion of his farm. Once in the sociopolitical swirl of Williamsburg, he met the magnificent Rebecca Plater Tayloe—at seventeen, she was half his age but nonetheless as attracted to him as he was to her. Her doting father was John Tayloe, a burgess and master of the 20,000-acre Mt. Airy plantation that stretched along the Rappahannock River on the south side of the Northern Neck, across the peninsula from Stratford Hall and Chantilly. The owner of 320 slaves, he also owned an enormous iron works that would supply Virginia’s militia and navy with cannonballs and pig iron during the Revolutionary War. Tayloe—the origin of the spelling is unclear—fully approved of his daughter’s choice in marriage but refused to consider allowing her to leave for the Loudon County wilderness. He offered her fiancé, Francis Lightfoot Lee, 1,000 acres of Mt. Airy land as his daughter’s dowry if he agreed to build a home and remain there with his wife. He did and they did—happily so. They were near not only her family but also his brothers at Stratford Hall and Chantilly.
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9. Richard Henry Lee won election to the House of Burgesses in Williamsburg, Virginia, bringing to eleven the number of Lees in the colony legislature—enough to dominate proceedings and direct the colony’s destiny.
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10. Francis Lightfoot Lee, Richard Henry Lee’s younger brother by a year, supported his brother’s political quests in Virginia’s House of Burgesses, its Assembly, and the Continental Congress. Always working on his brother’s behalf behind the scenes, he almost never displayed the oral histrionics that lifted his brother Richard Henry to national fame.








As these three Lee brothers and their eight cousins and in-laws took their seats in the House of Burgesses for the 1757 session, they joined a group whose names would become some of the most illustrious in American history: George Washington, George Mason, Benjamin Harrison, Peyton Randolph, and George Wythe, among others.


Once seated, the more than 100 burgesses ruled over the largest, wealthiest, and most heavily populated English colony in the New World, with 800,000 people, or nearly 27 percent of the 3 million people in the thirteen colonies. Nearly three-fourths of the burgesses owned properties of more than 10,000 acres, with the median holding 1,800 acres with forty slaves. Washington owned more than 20,000 acres—with more than 300 slaves—and Speaker John Robinson, 30,000 acres and 400 slaves. Some 85 percent of burgesses had inherited their properties and what they deemed their right to rule the colony.14 Of the 116 members, 40 had attended the College of William and Mary and nearly 100 had served as justices in their home counties before entering the House. Almost all had won election to the House without opposition. During the fifty previous years, four families—the Randolphs, Carters, Beverlys, and Lees—had dominated House voting.


Together the burgesses not only ruled Virginia—they were Virginia.


The only political division between burgesses reflected the split between Tidewater aristocrats like the Lees, who owned the large tobacco plantations in eastern Virginia, and the isolated upland farmers and backwoodsmen from the Piedmont hills to the west. Thirty-five of Virginia’s fifty-six counties were in the Tidewater region, and only twenty-one were upland, giving the closely connected Tidewater aristocrats all-but-absolute control of the House.


All, however, paid obeisance to the politically conservative John Robinson, who had filled dual roles as both Speaker and colony treasurer since 1738 and held almost all the older burgesses in his thrall.


Robinson welcomed Richard Henry Lee and his brothers, expecting them to fall in line with the other burgesses who had marched in political lockstep behind him for a generation. Nothing in Richard Henry’s boyish smile and warm demeanor signaled his intention to shatter the older man’s career and bring Virginia’s century-old political house crashing to the ground.





* A wide, checkered bar (fesse chequy) across the center of the shield, with eight “billets,” or vertical rectangles above and below the central bar.


* To flatter their Virgin Queen, Elizabeth I, mapmakers depicted Virginia sprawling across North America from Florida to Canada and westward to the “South Sea,” or Pacific Ocean. As the oldest and largest of Elizabeth’s colonies, Virginia has claimed status as “The Old Dominion” ever since.


* While their brothers acquired formal education, the Lee girls stayed at the sides of female slaves and, later, their mothers, growing up unlettered and learning only “women’s work” and “lady-like” behavior. A few of the wealthiest learned “decorative arts,” such as embroidering or playing a musical instrument to entertain their future husbands.


* The ruins of Belvoir are on the grounds of the military installation at Fort Belvoir, near Mount Vernon, Virginia.


* Thomas and Ludwell were her second and third children, respectively, the first being Elizabeth, who died in infancy.















CHAPTER 2
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Egyptian Bondage


AS RICHARD HENRY LEE ENTERED THE HOUSE OF BURGESSES THE French and Indian War was raging in Canada, western Virginia, and other American provinces. Involving only Britain, France, and American Indians at first, it spread across the Atlantic to Europe, where it evolved into the Seven Years’ War, with six more nations joining the conflict, expanding it into the planet’s first “world” war.


In September 1758 the French and Indians staged raids that reached into eastern Virginia, threatening the Lee holdings at Stratford Hall and the Northern Neck. Newspapers blamed Washington and his misadventure in the West as having caused the conflagration: “When raw novices… who have never been used to command… are honored with commissions in the Army,” the Virginia Gazette asked rhetorically, “how wretchedly helpless must a nation be?”1


As British reinforcements landed in America, they met with nothing but disaster. French forces swept southward from Quebec into New York, capturing three key English forts north of Albany while a hurricane destroyed a British fleet attempting to seize the French fortification at Louisbourg at the entrance to the St. Lawrence River.


British forces went on the offensive in some areas, however. In the waters off Nova Scotia they eventually forced the French to surrender Louisbourg. In western Pennsylvania a large force of British troops expelled the French from Fort Duquesne near the site where the French had humiliated General Braddock. In Europe British troops raided the French coast, and Britain’s Prussian ally defeated and occupied Saxony, a French ally.


Although the war would continue in Europe until 1763, the capture of Fort Duquesne ended the immediate threat to Virginia. British forces all but ended the war in North America in September 1759 with a surprise assault on Quebec City that forced the French to surrender all of Canada to Britain the following year.


Although Virginians celebrated the British victory, they paid a heavy price in added taxes to pay for their participation, all but pushing some of Virginia’s wealthiest plantation owners to the brink of financial ruin. Colonial treasurer John Robinson, the wily Speaker of the House of Burgesses, found a way to pay for the war, however, without bleeding his friends, the colony’s property owners. He simply issued and sold government notes, which spread the burden for repaying costs of the war across America and Britain. Virginians hailed Robinson as a financial and political genius.


“His reputation was great for sound political knowledge and… a benevolence which created friends and a sincerity which never lost one,” the future Virginia governor Edmund Randolph testified. “In the limited sphere of colonial politics, he was a column. The thousand little flattering attentions which can be scattered from the chair operated as delicious incense.”2 Robinson was everyone’s hero.


Everyone’s hero but Richard Henry Lee and his family.


Richard Henry Lee and his brothers did not dislike Robinson—no one could dislike him—but Robinson was a partner in the Loyal Land Company with, among others, Benjamin Harrison V, a wealthy Virginia planter-merchant. Their company had staked out lands south of the Ohio River and waged a long, bitter war for control of Ohio River rights with the Ohio Land Company on the opposite bank of the river. Washington, Lee, and their families were among the founder-partners of the Ohio Land Company, whose 200,000 acres were part of a 1612 royal grant. Both companies intended reaping huge profits from the sale of furs and other easily harvested wealth and the reselling of sections of land to would-be settlers. To open the region, however, they needed control of lands along the Ohio River waterway to carry men and materials to their holdings. Years of bitter family feuding had left both companies unwilling to compromise.


When Richard Henry Lee entered the House of Burgesses, he feigned obeisance to Speaker Robinson—politics and good manners demanded nothing less. Lee nonetheless grew suspicious of Speaker Robinson’s grandiosity in providing colleagues with financial assistance in the form of Treasury notes. Backed by his family, Richard Henry moved that the House sever ties between the offices of the Speaker and the treasurer. To his surprise—indeed, to the surprise of most other burgesses—a curious looking, ill-clad burgess stood to second Richard Henry Lee’s resolution.


In stark contrast to burgesses in formal morning clothes and powdered wigs, he had entered the hall in drab work clothes—a working farmer from the Piedmont hills upcountry. Sentries had stopped him at the outer gate, but when he displayed his official papers and election certificate, the sergeant at arms had to let him pass, albeit reluctantly. His name was Patrick Henry, the owner of a simple 1,700-acre farm with no slaves. Although a few other upcountry farmers in homespun clothes sat scattered along the back benches of the House, Patrick Henry stood out in what seemed like a black shroud. He did not fit in, but Speaker Robinson had no choice but to recognize him.


By seconding Richard Lee’s resolution, Patrick Henry drew the support from the other farmers and ensured passage of Lee’s resolution to reform the House of Burgesses. He also established a “lasting friendship” with Richard Henry Lee, according to William Wirt Henry, Patrick Henry’s grandson and biographer. “Mutual admiration and coincidence of views on public questions soon made them bosom friends.”3


Energized by his first major political victory, Richard Henry again took aim at Robinson, this time noting the large number of slaves who worked the Speaker’s 30,000-acre plantation. Suggesting that Robinson was profiting from the slave trade, Richard Henry set some burgesses aghast by moving “to lay so heavy a duty on the importation of slaves as effectually to put an end to that iniquitous and disgraceful traffic within the colony of Virginia.”4


In what may have been the first—and certainly one of the earliest—public speeches on the subject in American history, he warned of slave rebellions to come, saying, “slaves must be natural enemies to society and their increase consequentially dangerous… because they see us enjoying every privilege and luxury… and because they observe their masters possessed of liberty which is denied to them, whilst they and their posterity are subjected forever to the most abject and mortifying slavery.”


As Burgesses roared in collective outrage, calling on Lee to sit down, he grimaced, indicating he was far from finished.


“Not the cruelties practiced in the conquest of Spanish America,” he thundered above the din, “not the savage barbarity of the Saracens can be more big with atrocity than our cruel trade with Africa.




There we encourage those poor, ignorant people to wage eternal war against each other: not nation against nation but father against son, son against parents, and brothers against brothers, whereby parental, filial, and fraternal duty is violated, that… we Christians [he emphasized the word] may be furnished with our fellow creatures, who are no longer considered as created in the image of God as well as ourselves and equally entitled to liberty and freedom by the great law of nature, but they are to be deprived, forever deprived, of all the comforts of life and to be made the most wretched of the human kind.





Lee claimed that Christianity had introduced humane principles, universal benevolence, and brotherly love in Europe and “happily abolished slavery. Let us who profess the same religion,” he pleaded, “practice its precepts, and… pay a proper regard to the dictates of justice and humanity.”5


Lee himself owned forty slaves, his brother Philip more than one hundred at Stratford Hall, and neither had any inclination to emancipate them. Nor did Virginia law allow them to do so. Slaves were property, to be bought and sold with the land, not to be freed to run loose any more than livestock. Although Quakers hailed Lee’s proposal as a step toward emancipation, Robinson supporters, whose plantations depended on slave labor, shouted Lee down, accusing him of planning to profit by breeding and selling his own slaves to fill slave shortages that his proposed duties would create.


Northern Neck plantation owners like the Lees, however, had seen the number of slaves balloon to 50 percent of the population and create an economic burden for their owners. Unlike cotton, which any child able to crawl could harvest to earn his keep, tobacco required skilled hands to plant, harvest, and cure. Newly arrived slaves, however, were not only unskilled, they were illiterate and, because they could not speak English, often proved difficult to train.*


In addition to difficulties training adult workers, almost one-third of the slave population on many plantations were infants too young to be productive, while an equal number were often too old or crippled to be productive but nonetheless cost their owners for food, clothes, and shelter. What Northern Neck planters feared most, however, was an increase in the slave population to numbers strong enough to stage a rebellion. Lee’s proposed tariff increase was a way of stemming the growth of that population by making it too costly to import more slaves. By adding principles of Christianity to his address Lee hoped Quakers would join the Northern Neckers in support of his proposal.


In the end his political strategy and eloquence won the day, planting some of the first seeds of emancipation in Virginia and giving Lee the potential to become a powerful political force in Virginia.


As the Speaker’s hold on leadership weakened, Richard Henry sought to wrest control of the House from Robinson and his supporters. It was not long before he learned that, instead of destroying Virginia government notes after repaying them from the Treasury, Robinson had kept them on the books as outstanding before parceling them out to cronies to cash in at the colonial treasury a second time.


Without disclosing his evidence of the Speaker’s malfeasance, Lee moved “that a committee be appointed to inquire into the state of the Treasury,” according to his grandson. “The Speaker fixed his eyes with a dark and terrible frown upon Mr. Lee.… The most able and influential members of the House opposed his motion, yet he refuted with great force all objections to the inquiry and seemed to gain strength and ardor from the very means taken to defeat it. The resolution was finally adopted.”6


As Robinson and his cronies held their breath, Lee then “brought the matter to a close,” saying he would not demand that a date be set for the inquiry and, in effect, “saved the colony from great fiscal embarrassment and the people from additional burdens.” Although he had not sought leadership, Lee nonetheless acquired enormous political standing—in effect, a leader in spite of himself. Adding to the admiration for his political discretion was the quality of his speaking skills.


“Richard Henry Lee was by far the most elegant scholar in the House of Burgesses,” recalled William Wirt, later to be attorney general. “His face itself was on the Roman model; his nose Caesarean; the port and carriage of his head, leaning persuasively and gracefully forward; and the whole contour noble and fine.”7 (See frontispiece, here.)


Lee was also among the most well-educated members of the House, having studied every area of literature and science. “He possessed a rich store of historical and political knowledge,” Wirt recalled. “He reasoned well, and declaimed freely and splendidly. The note of his voice was deep and melodious.”8




OEBPS/images/Art_P27.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P28.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P25.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P22.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_sborn.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P7.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P8.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P9.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P19.jpg
PRINCE ,_»J/
21D B M
Corvey

~ Hiven

\\ v

s Colihent
N LA A OR D S )

,;'{J X
Coo. 7)/,,,:/,,,;'\.-3’)
“\;- \\qumh.wud, ~¥

\‘

& \J},
A -

A
Z
s, %
4 Tipynolutsie
< u/.im/‘/ g






OEBPS/images/Art_Pv.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P12.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P13.jpg





OEBPS/images/Art_P11.jpg
il

it

i

Il






OEBPS/images/9780306825620.jpg
HARLOW GILES UNGER

NEW YORK TIMES BESTSELLING AUTHOR

FRICHIARD HENRYEEE
mnp THE CALL
to INDEPENDENCE





OEBPS/images/Art_tit.jpg
RICHARD HENRY LEE
AND THE CALL TO
INDEPENDENCE

HARLOW GILES UNGER

%

DA CAPO PRESS





